COURT OF APPEALS No. 44246-9-II

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE ESTATE OF CATHERINE HENINGTON

## **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Mona K. McPhee, WSBA# 30305 Counsel for Petitioner

Desh International Law 400 108<sup>th</sup> Ave NE, Suite 700 Bellevue, WA 98004 (360) 870-0769

**厚目L**匠 007-32014 CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATEOFWAS

#### **

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, Richard Wills, personal representative for the Estate of Catherine Henington seeks review of the decision not to award attorney fees on appeal from the estate for the handling of the appeal when the personal representative had a fiduciary duty to pursue the appeal.

#### **II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS**

The Court of Appeals Division II, filed its Opinion in *In re Estate of Catherine Henington*, 44246-9-II on July 22, 2014 and summarily denied a motion for reconsideration on September 3, 2014. These decisions are contained in Appendix A.

#### **III.ISSUE PRESENTED**

When the probate court enters an order that is based on patently obvious errors closing an estate in contravention to governing law, should attorney fees on appeal be denied thereby placing all personal representatives of estates in Washington in the untenable position of choosing between ignoring and violating their statutorily imposed fiduciary duties or complying with those duties but facing the (now) real risk of personally incurring the expenses of the fees and costs for such compliance?

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Catherine Henington died leaving a will naming her daughter Crystal Henington as the sole beneficiary, in trust, of her estate. (CP 151-154.) Petitioner Richard Wills is the Successor Personal Representative for the estate of Catherine Henington following appointment by the probate court to replace the original Personal Representative, Roy Henington, the decedent's estranged husband whose only interest in the estate is his onehalf community property portion of the estate's community property. (CP 213-214.) Mr. Henington was left out of the will. (CP 151-154.)

Administration of the estate was complicated due in large part to Mr. Henington's uncooperative behavior (e.g. failing to comply for years with the court's order to provide information to the successor personal representative; thwarting the sale of the estate's major asset, the decedent's home; repeated petitions to the court for early distribution; and requesting joint tax returns be prepared, filed, and paid on his behalf for the years Mrs. Henington did not file and pay during her lifetime, but failing to ever sign the returns himself). (*See* CP 14, 54-57, 247, 251, 356-357, 358, 412, 414, 416-417, 458; Verbatim Report of Proceedings ("VRP.B"), 11/16/12 at 11:10-12, 13:1-6.) In addition, in April 2010, following the petition from Mr. Henington, the probate court entered an order that both Ms. Crystal Henington, the estate's sole will beneficiary,

and Mr. Henington would each receive \$7,000.00, as prior partial distributions from the estate, plus each would receive an additional \$1,000 per month from May 2010 forward that "shall be allocated against the final community property interest and testamentary share of each Roy Henington and the Crystal Henington Trust, respectively." (CP 333-336.) As a result, approximately \$66,000.00 in estate assets were distributed to Ms. Henington and Mr. Henington prior to all demands against the estate being paid, including all administrative costs due, all taxes and associated interest and fees due, and the viable claims of Mr. Leonard Bradley. (CP 18-23, 334-335.)

Through payment of the allowed claim of Evergreen Bank, (significant but incomplete) tax payments to the IRS, and other payments from the estate, the estate's assets naturally declined. Mr. Wills sought an order from the probate court approving his final plan of distribution and closing of the estate when it appeared the estate would no longer be able to pay all the demands against it. (*See* CP 4-49 ("Final Report").) Despite prior and on-going distributions from the estate to him, Mr. Henington objected to payment of any potential creditor, including the IRS, and, without reference to any supporting legal authority, asked that all remaining funds be equally distributed to Roy Henington and Crystal Henington. (CP 51-52; CP 61; CP 126-29.)

Instead of approving the Mr. Wills's proposed final plan, including allowing Petitioner to set aside a reserve from the amounts remaining in the estate to pay the anticipated tax deficiencies, interest and fee assessments to the IRS as permitted by statute and pursuant to the usual practice in probate administration, the probate court ordered the estate to be closed "as is" by ordering administrative fees to be paid to Mr. Wills with the remainder of the estate to be distributed in equal shares to Ms. Henington and Mr. Henington. (CP 69-72.) The superior court declined to revise the portion of the probate court's decision that is now on appeal. (CP 134-135.)

As the Court of Appeals ultimately agreed, the probate and superior courts' orders were based on obviously unsupported findings of fact and on conclusions of law that were contrary to governing law, and resulted in the estate failing to pay its debts to either the IRS or Leonard Bradley, an outstanding claimant whose claims Mr. Wills had allowed in his proposed Final Report. Mr. Wills was, therefore, obligated by his fiduciary duty as a Personal Representative to appeal the closing of the estate as ordered by the lower court. Having no trial or appellate experience, Petitioner hired an attorney with appellate experience, Mona K. McPhee, who filed a notice of appearance with the Court of Appeals on March 27, 2013. On July 22, 2014, the Court filed an Opinion (published in part) agreeing with Petitioner that the lower courts had erred in closing the estate on the basis of unsupported findings of fact and in contravention to governing law as to the claims made and debts owed by the estate. The Court, however, "declined to award additional fees on appeal."<sup>1</sup> (*In re Estate of Catherine Henington*, 44246-9-II, slip opinion filed July 22, 2014 at 7 (hereinafter cited as "Slip Opinion") and included in Appendix A.). The Court of Appeals summarily denied Petitioner's motion for reconsideration of this issue.<sup>2</sup> (Appx. A.)

### V. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. When a Personal Representative in order to satisfy his fiduciary duties appeals a patently erroneous court order that improperly closes and distributes an estate then the denial of an award of attorney fees on appeal creates an untenable precedent affecting the administration of estates, the duties of personal representatives, and the practice of law throughout Washington.

In Washington, personal representatives ("PR") of estates have statutorily mandated duties to settle the estate they are administering, and they are designated as fiduciaries to the estate and those beneficially interested in the estate. RCW 11.48.010. As a fiduciary, a PR's duties

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> No fees or costs on appeal have been awarded.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Petitioner also asked the Court of Appeals to correct or delete the inaccurate statement of fact in the published portion of its opinion that "A few months later, Mr. Henington signed the returns and filed them with the IRS." (Opinion at 2.) The record demonstrates only that Mr. Henington did not sign the returns and it was the estate's personal representative, Mr. Wills, who filed them without Mr. Henington's cooperation or signature. ((CP 15-17; CP 80-82; VRP.B 4:6-23, 10:12-17; *see also* CP 11-13; CP 341-54; CP 366-78; CP 413-14, 417; CP 427-32; CP 453-57.) This request was dealt with as part of the Court of Appeals summary denial.

include ensuring that the estate is distributed and closed according to the governing statutes so that the estate and those beneficially interested in it are treated equitably and according to the law. The personal representative of an estate is,

an officer of the court and stands in a fiduciary relationship to those beneficially interested in the estate. In the performance of his fiduciary duties he is obligated to exercise the utmost good faith and to utilize the skill, judgment, and diligence which would be employed by the ordinarily cautious and prudent person in the management of his own trust affairs.

Hesthagen v. Harby, 78 Wn.2d 934, 942, 481 P.2d 438, 443-44 (1971); see also In re Estate of Larson, 103 Wn.2d 517, 521, 694 P.2d 1051 (1985) (the personal representative owes the beneficiaries of an estate a fiduciary duty to act in the estate's best interest); *Trask v. Butler*, 123 Wn.2d 835, 843, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994) (same). An essential part of a PR's fiduciary duties include, "the duty [] to guard against error in the distribution of an estate...." *Hesthagen*, 78 Wn.2d at 941 (quoting *In re Estate of Maher*, 195 Wn. 126, 131, 79 P.2d 984, 986 (1938)). In other words, a PR's duties require that he ensure that the estate is distributed as mandated by the governing statutes. (*See also e.g.*, RCW 11.76.110 (laying out the priority of distribution).)

When an estate is closed by the probate court on the basis of obvious factual and legal errors that affect payment of proper demands on the estate and the distribution of the estate, then the estate's PR has a duty to take the steps necessary to correct the errors so the estate is not distributed and closed in violation of the law. (RCW 11.48.010; *see also Hesthagen*, 78 Wn.2d at 941-942.) If the steps that are necessary to correct the errors require professional assistance, then the personal representative has a duty to the estate to engage that assistance. *See In re Evans' Estate*, 138 Wn. 101, 102, 244 P. 260 (1926).

With these paramount duties in focus, then review of the Court of Appeals denial of an award of attorney fees on appeal in this case is warranted pursuant to RAP 13.4(4). Denial of an award of attorney fees on appeal when a personal representative is under a fiduciary duty to appeal the obvious errors in the lower court's administration of an estate places personal representatives of estates in Washington in the untenable position of deciding between satisfying their fiduciary duty or risking the expense of appeal as a personal cost when the probate code intends for such expenses to be paid from the estate. *See In re Jennings' Estate*, 6 Wn. App. 537, 538, 494 P.2d 227, 228 (1972) ("The allowance of attorney's fees, when properly made, is paid from the assets of the estate as a reimbursement to the executor for the faithful discharge of his duties and the expenses incurred in performing them."). The lawful administration of

the ethical obligations of the legal profession are all implicated and threatened by the Court of Appeals denial of an award of attorney fees on appeal when an appeal by the PR is the only method that will satisfy the law's mandate that estates be properly administered and distributed for its own benefit and that of the beneficiaries, heirs, and claimants. By refusing to award attorney fees on appeal in the type of circumstances this case presents personal representatives throughout this state now face two significant obstacles in the day-to-day practice of probate and estate administration: (1) making a choice between an unlawful position and an unjust position, and (2) engaging competent legal counsel to handle an appeal under the current precedent. As a matter of substantial public interest, this issue merits review by the Supreme Court.

B. This case illuminates the obstacles now in place by the denial of an award of attorney fees on appeal because the Personal Representative chose to embrace his fiduciary duty and appeal the probate court's patently erroneous errors and despite prevailing on the substantive issues has been denied an award of attorney fees.

In this case, the PR's fiduciary duties run to the estate, to the claimants against the estate including the IRS and claimant Leonard Bradley, and Crystal Henington, a named beneficiary in the will.<sup>3</sup> Here, according to both the PR and the Court of Appeals, the probate court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Henington's interest in the estate is as the owner of one-half of the estate's community property and not as a beneficiary.

closed the estate on the basis of significant errors affecting the payment of demands against the estate and distribution and settlement of the estate. The Court of Appeals found the lower courts erred by:

 entering a finding that the IRS had been paid all amounts due when that finding was unsupported by any evidence and the PR had in fact "represented to the trial court that he did not have confirmation from the IRS that it had accepted the returns. And ... that [he anticipated] there may be additional taxes because the joint returns were late and Mr. Henington initially failed to sign them," and thus closing the estate in violation of RCW 11.68.114; and
deciding that claimant Leonard Bradley's claims against

the estate were time barred when the \$300 claim must be allowed pursuant to RCW 11.40.090(2), and the probate court did not have sufficient evidence before it to determine which statute of limitation applies to the other claims and therefore erred in concluding the claims are time barred.

(Appx. A, Slip Op.) These errors arose in large part from the lower courts' handling of the matter and from representations made on behalf of Mr. Henington (including the drafting of the proposed order adopted by the court commissioner of the probate court). (*See* CP 69-72.) The PR initially

undertook to correct the probate court's errors by filing a motion for revision but the superior court refused to correct the errors and affirmed the decision to close the estate and distribute the remaining funds equally to Mr. Henington and Ms. Henington. (CP 134-135.)

Following these decisions, the PR had to either accept the patently erroneous order or continue to abide by his fiduciary duties and file an appeal to correct the probate court's errors. Under the law, and in Petitioner's view, this is not a choice. The PR has a duty to the estate to ensure that it is closed and distributed in harmony with governing statutes and he was obligated to pursue this appeal.

Furthermore, an appeal by the PR on behalf of the estate was the only realistic manner through which the probate court's errors would be corrected, thereby placing an emphasis on the imposed duty of the PR to act and to appeal. Although Mr. Henington; Ms. Henington, the estate's sole beneficiary; of the IRS and Mr. Bradley, claimants to the estate, could have brought an appeal, none had a duty to do so. And neither Mr. Henington nor Ms. Henington had a financial interest in doing so because the probate court's errors meant that they were to each receive additional distributions from the estate in addition to distributions each had already received throughout the pendency of the probate. (CP 18-23, 69-72, 134-135, 334-335.) Without the PR's appeal the estate would have been closed

and improperly distributed despite significant errors by the probate court. These circumstances underscore and support the purpose of imposing these duties on personal representatives. Without the imposed duty on the PR in this case, and in any case where the probate court errs because of reliance on orders improperly drafted by objecting parties as in this case or due to reasons of case-load, large files, or other administrative and legal mistakes, the estate would be quietly and erroneously closed in violation of the law.

The law, however, mandates the correction of errors in probate. In re Peterson's Estate, 12 Wn.2d 686, 722-23, 123 P.2d 733 (1942). While it is the probate court that is charged with distributing the estate only after the debts, expenses and other demands against the estate have been paid in order of priority set forth in RCW 11.76.110, when the lower courts persist in obvious material errors that significantly affect the administration, closing, and final distribution of the estate, who else but the PR should take the necessary procedural step of an appeal to correct these errors? It is on this basis that Petitioner's fiduciary duties were triggered mandating that he appeal the lower courts' erroneous orders.

As a result of a PR's duty to appeal a probate court's apparent errors, the PR has a corresponding duty to ensure that qualified legal counsel handle the matter. For most estates, the PR is a lay person who is unqualified or is an attorney specializing in probate who is only occasionally qualified to efficiently and effectively handle an appeal while complying with the procedures governing appeals. Therefore, hiring an appellate attorney (or any competently qualified attorney) is a necessary step in the administration of the estate and compliance of the PR's fiduciary duties in circumstances such as those in this case. *See In re Evans' Estate*, 138 Wn. 101, 102, 244 P. 260 (1926) (the administrator of an estate, even though he may be an attorney, may employ an attorney to assist in the settlement of the estate, provided 'it is necessary.')

The PR in this case is an attorney who worked exclusively in the areas of estate planning and probate for 15 years and for 20 years in the areas of estate planning, guardianship, and probate, including volunteer work. (Declaration of R. Wills filed with the Court of Appeals in support of the motion for reconsideration at ¶ 1 (contained in Appendix B to this petition).) This experience demonstrates that Mr. Wills is capable of handling probates but he has had no trial or appellate experience. (Id. at ¶¶ 1, 9.) Therefore, handling the appeal himself would likely violate his duties to the estate as a personal representative and as a licensed attorney. (Id. at ¶ 9.) Instead, Mr. Wills sought and hired qualified appellate counsel. (Id; *see also e.g., In re Evans' Estate*, 138 Wn. at 102.)

Denial by the Court of Appeals of the PR's request for an award of attorney fees on appeal results in either appellate counsel writing off the fees or the PR personally paying appellate counsel for her services -aresult that is inequitable to either. Regardless of the fact that the portion of the opinion denying the award of attorney fees is unpublished, this decision sets a tangible precedent in the day-to-day administration of probate and the practice of probate law that is highly discouraging to qualified appellate counsel accepting such work and, therefore, creates a significant obstacle to personal representatives fulfilling their duties to the estate when a probate court acts in error and improperly affects the lawful distribution and settlement of the estate. (See Appx. B.) This case particularly illuminates the obstacles now in place by the denial of an award of attorney fees on appeal because the PR was obligated to appeal the probate court's obvious errors including, for example, the finding and order that all amounts due to the IRS had been paid where there was no evidence whatsoever supporting that decision and all the evidence before the probate court was to the contrary.

In re Estate of Jolly, 3 Wn.2d 615, 101 P.2d 995 (1940), applies this reasoning to the analogous circumstances of a personal representative who is likewise duty bound to act – in that case to defend a will in good faith. The Jolly Court noted that to deny a personal representative an award attorney fees and costs from the estate "would be to encourage and promote failure of duty...[and s]ince duty and the law require an executor to defend in such a situation, he should not be required to defend at his peril." *Id.* at 626.<sup>4</sup> Denial of an award of attorney fees creates the precedent that places the PR in the position of making an impossible election – either do nothing and accept patently incorrect rulings that significantly affect the administration and distribution of the estate in violation of his duty or engage appellate counsel and move forward with the appeal at the risk that even if the Court of Appeals agrees that the probate court erred attorney fees will be denied thereby leaving no realistic source to pay appellate counsel and "encourage[ing] and promot[ing] failure of duty" from personal representatives. *Id.* 

In this case, the PR actively and diligently engaged in administering and settling the estate and performed his duties in good faith. (*See e.g.*, Slip Op., 44246-9-II (noting that Mr. Wills rejected the two claims from the Ford Motor Company and had the estate pay the claim from Evergreen Bank.) He also chose not to fail in his duty by allowing the probate court's order to stand. Instead, he embraced his duty and appealed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "Costs" referred to in the *Jolly* case "include a reasonable attorney's fee." *Jolly*, 3 Wn.2d at 620.

Because hiring a competent attorney to handle the attorney was a necessary step in the administration of the estate in order to satisfy the PR's fiduciary duties, an award of attorney fees on appeal protects the proper administration of the estate as mandated by the law. Therefore, the Court of Appeals should have made such an award.

C. When the fiduciary duty of a personal representative is the basis of an appeal, then the estate is the proper source for the award of attorney fees on appeal and the status of the estate's solvency should not be considered in the determination of whether to make an award.

Hiring appellate counsel and pursuing the correction of the probate court's erroneous orders was necessary to manage and settle the estate pursuant to the PR's fiduciary duties. RCW 11.48.050 provides that a PR "shall be allowed all necessary expenses in the care, management, and settlement of the estate." The estate is the proper source for payment of the expenses of the appeal. *In re Jennings' Estate*, 6 Wn. App. 537, 538, 494 P.2d 227, 228 (1972) ("The allowance of attorney's fees, when properly made, is paid from the assets of the estate as a reimbursement to the executor for the faithful discharge of his duties and the expenses incurred in performing them.").

In addition, RCW 11.48.210 states, in relevant part, that "An attorney performing services for the estate at the instance of the personal representative shall have such compensation therefor *out of the estate* as

the court shall deem just and reasonable." (Emphasis added.) An award of "just and reasonable" compensation for services rendered in handling the appeal should be made in order to pay the fees of appellate counsel. *See Chesnin v. Fischler*, 43 Wn. App. 360, 369, 717 P.2d 298, 303 (1986) (appellate attorney for the personal representative of the estate is awarded attorney fees from the estate for the appeal). The award of attorney fees on appeal should be paid from the estate. *In re Peterson's Estate*, 12 Wn.2d. at 730-31 (it is sensible to allow an award directly from the estate to an attorney whose hiring was necessary to the fulfillment of the personal representative's duties). Moreover, considering that the PR was acting pursuant to his duty to the estate in bringing an appeal and in hiring legal counsel to handle the appeal, it is simply equitable that it is the estate that must bear the attorney fees incurred for this necessary action.

According the Court of Appeals decision which provided no analysis and only the slightest of rationales, it denied "additional fees on appeal," because "the estate is likely insolvent." (Appx. A, Slip Op., 44246-9-II, at 7.) The solvency of the estate should not govern whether an award of attorney fees is made and it should not govern in this case. At the time of the probate court's erroneous order estate assets had previously been used to pay the mortgage on Decedent's home, pay a claim from Evergreen Bank, pay partial tax debts, pay administrative fees including to

the court-appointed guardian ad litem for the time Crystal Henington was a minor, Mr. Henington's attorney, the personal representative, and as partially distributed to Mr. Henington and Ms. Henington prior to the closing of the estate by the lower court. At the time of appeal the amount of estate assets whose distribution by the probate court was disputed and appealed totals \$18,034.78. (Appx. B at ¶ 4).)

As the appearing parties in this case have agreed, the demands against the estate are paid in order of priority set forth in RCW 11.76.110 "Order of Payment of Debts," which provides:

After payment of costs of administration the debts of the estate shall be paid in the following order: ... (4) Debts having preference by the laws of the United

States.

(5) Taxes, or any debts or dues owing to the state...

(7) All other demands against the estate.

(Emphasis added.) Administrative debts including attorney fees and costs are prioritized and paid first. Then, if any funds remain, the estate's obligations to the IRS are paid; and, then if any funds remain, the estate's obligations to Decedent's creditors are paid. The statute recognizes that it is likely that no additional funds remain to be distributed to the estate's beneficiary. However, both the will beneficiary, Ms. Henington, and the community property claimant, Mr. Henington, are not left without benefit by this result because they have already received a significant share of the estate assets. (CP 18-23, 334-335.) Because many claimants and expenses have been paid, and the sole will beneficiary has already received prior distributions, the status of the estate's solvency should not be the determining factor for denying an award of attorney fees in a necessary appeal considering the PR's duty to appeal the clearly erroneous lower court orders.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Petitioner requests that this Court accept review of the Court of Appeals decision denying an award of attorney fees on appeal because the decision affects an issue of substantial public interest – namely the fiduciary duties of personal representatives in the administration of estates throughout Washington. Personal representatives now face two significant obstacles in the day-to-day practice of probate and estate administration: (1) making a choice between an unlawful position and an unjust position, and (2) engaging competent legal counsel to handle an appeal under the current precedent. As a matter of substantial public interest, this issue merits review by the Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(4).