I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT 

The Respondent, Roy Henington ("Mr. Henington"), by and through 

his attorneys of recor~ A. Colby Parks and A. Colby Parks, Attorney at 

Law, P.S., respectfully requests this Court deny the Petition for Review. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals Division II, filed its opinion In re Estate of 

Catherine Henington, No. 44246-9-11 on July 22,2014 and then summarily 

denied Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration re: Fees on September 3, 

2014. 

m. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Catherine Henington died leaving a Last Will and Testament that 

named her daughter, Crystal Henington, as the sole beneficiary of her 

Estate. Mrs. Henington was also swvived by her spouse, Roy Henington. 

Mr. Henington is entitled to a community property share of his late wife's 

estate. After protracted probate proceedings, the Superior Court closed 

Mrs. Henington 's estate. 

In closing the estate, Commissioner pro tempore Thomas Cena 

found: all notices required by law had been given; more than four ( 4) years 

had passed since the filing of creditor claims; neither Leonard Bradley ("Mr. 
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Bradley''} or Ford Motor Credit initiated litigation to resolve any creditor's 

claim; and, all amounts due to the IRS, according to the (Successor) 

Personal Representative had been paid. 1 

Despite producing no evidence to support his arguments, the 

Petitioner, Richard Wills, an attorney and the successor Personal 

Representative, argued that Mr. Bradley's creditor's claims were based 

upon written contracts, and a 6 year statute of limitations in accord with 

RCW 4.16.040, rather than being based upon the 3 year statute of limitations 

for an oral "agreement" in accord with RCW 4.16.080. Although the 

Petitioner repeatedly asserted that there were written contracts, none were 

produced for the Superior Court. Given there was no evidence of any 

written agreement, and that more than three years had passed since the time 

of any claimed oral "agreement," Commissioner pro tempore Cena ordered 

correctly that the creditor claims of Mr. Bradley were time-barred as a 

matter of law and that certain fees and distributions were to be made. The 

estate was closed. 

Then, upon the Petitioner's motion for revision to the trial court, the 

Honorable Katherine M. Stolz, Judge, denied the motion to revise 

Commissioner pro tempore Cena's rulings except to increase the amount of 

1 Mr. Bradley is the filther of the Decedent, Catherine Henington. 
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fees paid to the Successor Personal Representative and correspondingly 

reduce the amount of remainder distributions to be made to the heirs. 

On appeal, Mr. Wills argued that the trial court erred in closing the 

estate. On July 22, 2014, the Court filed its opinion (published in part). The 

Court of Appeals remanded the issue of the nature of the contracts, whether 

oral or written, back to Judge Stolz. The Petitioner requested attorney's 

fees, but Division II denied all attorney's fees. The Petitioner then sought 

reconsideration before Division II and the request was unanimously denied. 

Petitioner now seeks review by the Supreme Court of Washington. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. None of the elements for granting a petition for review are present 
in this matter as established by RAP 13. 4(b) 

The Petition in this matter does not meet any of the criteria set forth 

in RAP 13.4(b) for review by the Supreme Court. There is not a significant 

question of constitutional law, nor is there any issue of substantial public 

importance that should be detennined by the Supreme Court. The decision 

of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with any other decision of either 

the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court. 

Rule of Appellate Procedure ("RAP") 13.4(b) governs what types of 

cases will be accepted by the Washington Supreme Court on a petition for 

review. 
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A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: 

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in 
conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or 

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in 
conflict with another decision of the Court of 
Appeals; or 

(3) If a significant question of law under the 
Constitution of the State of Washington or of the 
United States is involved; or 

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial 
public interest that should be determined by the 
Supreme Court. 

Petitioner's sole basis for seeking review by the Supreme Court is the 

argument that the denial of fees to the Personal Representative is an issue 

of substantial public interest 

There is not an issue of substantial public interest in this 
matter, therefore the petition for review should be denied. 

In deciding whether a case presents issues of continuing and 

substantial public interest, the Court will consider the following criteria in 

detennining whether or not a sufficient public interest is involved: 

(I) the public or private nature of the question 
presented; 

(2) the desirability of an authoritative detennination 
which will provide future guidance to public officers; 
and 

(3) the likelihood that the question will recur. 
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Matter of Swanson. 115 Wn.2d 21, 24-25, 804 P.2d 1, 3 (1990), citing 
Matter of McLaughlin I 00 Wn.2d at 838, 676 P.2d 444 (1984). 

This case is private in nature. The only person affected by the Court 

of Appeals denying attorney's fees for the Personal Representative is the 

Personal Representative in this particular matter. 

Furthennore, there are no public officers who can use any decision 

in this matter for guidance, leaving the first two prongs of the "substantial 

public interest" test unsatisfied. 

The final element of this examination is to decide the likelihood this 

question may recur. In the case at bar, recurrence of these facts is unlikely. 

Petitioner asserts the Court of Appeals' denial of fees establishes a 

precedent and that all Personal Representatives will be forced to assume 

"risks" when appealing a decision made by the trial court. This is an 

exaggeration of the implications of the denial of fees on appeal. In this 

matter, as is the case in every probate preceding, the denial (and issue) of 

fees in this case was very carefully tailored to the facts of this particular 

case. The specific and individualized ruling regarding fees in this case is so 

fact specific that there is littJe or no chance that these facts will recur. 

Therefore, none of the criteria for finding a substantial public 

interest in this matter are present, and review should be denied. 
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B. Several RCW provisions give the Court discretion to award 
attorney fees to any party from the estate 's assets in an amount it 
deems equitable. 

The award of attorney's fees is discretionary in nature. RCW 

11.96A.150 (1) gives the Court discretion to award attorney fees to any 

party from any party or from the estate's assets in an amount it deems 

equitable. RCW 11. 96A.I50 states in relevant part: 

"Either the superior court or any court on an 
appeal may, in its discretion, order costs, 
including reasonable attorneys' fees, to be 
awarded to any party: (a) From any party to 
the proceedings; (b) from the assets of the 
estate or trust involved in the proceedings; or 
(c) from any no probate asset that is the 
subject of the proceedings." RCW 
11.96A.150. 

The statute further provides: 

"The court may order the costs, including 
reasonable attorneys' fees, to be paid in such 
amount and in such manner as the court 
determines to be equitable. In exercising its 
discretion under this section, the court may 
consider any and all factors that it deems to 
be relevant and appropriate, which factors 
may but need not include whether the 
litigation benefits the estate or trust 
involved." RCW 11.96A.lSO. 

Because of the almost limitless sets of factual circumstances that 

might arise in a probate proceeding, the legislature wisely left the matter of 

fees to the probate court, directing only that the award be made "as justice 
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may require." In re Estate of Black, 116 Wn.App. 476, 489, 66 P.3d 670, 

677 (2003), citing: In re Estate of Bunneister, 70 Wn.App. 532, 539, 854 

P.2d 653 (1993). 

In awarding attorney fees, the Court may consider any and all 

relevant factors, including whether the litigation benefits the estate. RCW 

11.96A.150(1). Accordingly, upon weighing the specific facts of the 

present case, the Appellate Court correctly denied attorney's fees in 

accordance with the powers expressly granted by RCW l1.96A.I50(1). 

Petitioner argues the Court must award attorney's fees to a Personal 

Representative who appeals a lower court ruling with any modicum of 

success, no matter how small. However, forcing the court to award fees for 

an appeal that does not benefit the estate is contrary to several established 

statutory provisions. 

RCW 11.48.210 speaks, in part, to the discretionary nature of 

awarding fees: 

"An attorney performing services for the 
estate at the instance of the personal 
representative shall have such compensation 
therefor out of the estate as the court shall 
deem just and reasonable (emphasis added) 
RCW 11.48.21 0. 

Petitioner argues this statue supports the argument the Court is 

bound to authorize fees to be paid from an estate. However, Petitioner 
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relies solely upon the language, "out of the estate," without further discussing 

the language of the statute which expressly states "as the Court deems just 

and equitable." In the present case, the Court of Appeals drafted its opinion 

and refusal of fees in accord with the details of this case. Furthennore. it is 

illogical to argue the legislature intended to obligate the probate court to 

award tees through the very statutes granting the court's discretion. 

Accordingly, Petitioner has failed to satisfy the requirements of 

RAP 13.4(b) and the petition for review should be denied. 

V. CONCLUSION 

The legislature expressly granted the discretion to the probate court 

on issues regarding fees. The probate court may award fees as it deems just 

and reasonable. There is no issue of substantial public interest as 

established by RAP 13.4 and the Petition should be denied.